Working Paper

IMPACTS OF HOME VISITING DURING THE PANDEMIC

Evidence from a Randomized Controlled Trial of Child First

SAMANTHA XIA MERVETT HEFYAN MEGHAN MCCORMICK MAYA GOLDBERG EMILY SWINTH SHARON HUANG

MARCH 2023



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

he research reported here was conducted as a part of a study funded by Arnold Ventures and The Duke Endowment. The opinions expressed are those of the authors and do not represent the view of the funders. Thanks to NFP/Child First, Darcy Lowell, Kim DiBella-Farber, Rebecca Parilla, Salam Soliman, Dana Hillman-Sabato, Diane Britz, and the Child First affiliate agencies. Thanks also to our MDRC colleagues, Angela The, Harrison Taylor, and Virginia Knox; and to Luisa LaFleur for editing the report and Ann Kottner for preparing it. The project name is the Child First RCT and the IRB approval number is 860661-2. Correspondence should be addressed to Samantha Xia (<u>samantha.xia@mdrc.org</u>).

The Authors

ABSTRACT

xisting research has found that home visiting programs for families with young children can improve children's development and strengthen caregivers' and families' well-being. However, the pandemic created numerous challenges for home visiting programs, forcing them to deliver services online or in a hybrid format and to adapt the content of their program models to respond to pandemicrelated challenges. Questions remain about the impacts of these programs when delivered at scale during this uniquely challenging time. The current study reports 12-month impacts from a randomized controlled trial of Child First-an evidence-based home visiting program that provides a psychotherapeutic, parent-child intervention embedded in a coordinated system of care-implemented across two states. After randomly assigning a racially and ethnically diverse sample of families (N = 226) from predominantly low-income backgrounds to receive the Child First services or typical community services, the research team surveyed caregivers (N = 183) about a year after program enrollment. Results from regression models with site fixed effects revealed that Child First reduced caregivers' job losses, residential mobility, and self-reported substance abuse, and increased receipt of virtual services during the pandemic. Child First also reduced parenting dysfunction (the name of the subscale within the Parenting Stress Index) among caregivers who reported clinical depression at enrollment. There were null impacts on caregivers' psychological well-being, families' involvement with the child welfare system, children's behaviors, and other indicators of economic well-being. Implications for future research and policy are discussed.

Keywords: home visiting, telehealth, pandemic, economic stability, substance abuse

CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
ABSTRACT	v
LIST OF EXHIBITS	ix

SECTIONS

Introduction	1
The Impact of Home Visiting on Family, Caregiver, and Child Outcomes	2
The Child First Home Visiting Program	3
Effects of Home Visiting During the Pandemic	4
The Current Study	4
Method	5
Participants	5
Procedure	5
Measures	9
Analytic Approach	12
Results	14
Descriptive Statistics	14
Impact Analysis	16
Discussion	22
Limitations	24
Implications for Policy and Practice	25
REFERENCES	27

LIST OF EXHIBITS

TABLE

1	Sociodemographic Characteristics of the Analytic Sample at Baseline	6
2	Sociodemographic Characteristics of Randomly Assigned Families and Analytic Sample at Baseline	10
3	Unadjusted Sample Statistics at Baseline and Follow-Up by Treatment Status	15
4	Child First Service Delivery	16
5	Impacts at 12-Month Follow-Up	17
6	Impacts at 12-Month Follow-Up Controlling for State	21

FIGURE

1	CONSORT Diagram	8
2	Variation in Parenting Dysfunction at 12-Month Follow-Up by Treatment Status	19

BOX

Summary of Sensitivity Checks	20
	Summary of Sensitivity Checks

INTRODUCTION

Due in part to structural socioeconomic inequality, children from families with lower incomes may be at particularly high risk of abuse, neglect (Ondersma, 2002), and behavioral problems during infancy, toddlerhood, and early childhood (DeCarlo Santiago et al., 2011). Additionally, involvement in the child welfare system results in high societal costs (Doyle & Aizer, 2018). Policymakers have supported and invested in scaled interventions to address these issues. The federal Family First Prevention Services Act was passed in 2018 and stipulated that evidence-based programs—like home visiting services with experimental evidence behind them—receive the majority of federal funding to prevent involvement in the child welfare system, among other outcomes (Family First Prevention Services Act, 2017–2018).

The Child First home visiting program is one intervention (Lowell et al., 2011) that seeks to accomplish these goals. The program targets families with children from birth through age 5 experiencing challenges with caregiver mental health or child development and behavior problems. It provides home-based therapeutic intervention embedded in a coordinated system of care. Child First operates on a wide scale, serving thousands of families each year across five states and growing.¹ An earlier experimental study conducted at one site found that Child First had improved children's language development and social-emotional outcomes as well as mothers' psychological well-being a year after study enrollment. The program also reduced families' involvement with the child welfare system three years after study enrollment (Lowell et al., 2011). Effects were moderate to large in magnitude, indicating substantial benefits for participants over and above existing community resources at the time. However, research is still needed to examine the impacts of Child First when implemented at scale and to determine for whom the intervention is most effective. Additionally, given the significant disruptions caused by COVID-19 (Fong & Iarocci, 2020), questions remain about the benefits of Child First when services are administered virtually during a time when families experienced unprecedented challenges with finances, childcare, and mental health (Patrick et al., 2020). Because technology provides flexibility that facilitates engagement and participation (Self-Brown et al., 2022), home visiting programs may continue to integrate some virtual services into their models moving forward. As such, it is critical to generate rigorous evidence on the efficacy of this type of service delivery approach.

To this end, the current study adds to the literature by estimating the impacts of the Child First program implemented across nine sites in Connecticut and one site in North Carolina before and during the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. We used a randomized controlled trial to conduct this study, allowing us to estimate the *causal impact* of Child First implemented through in-person and virtual delivery relative to business-as-usual services in the community. We also examine how impacts may have varied depending on challenges families faced at study entry, such as caregiver depression or involvement with the child welfare system. This study aims to

¹ As of January 2023, Child First operates in sites located in Colorado, Connecticut, Florida, North Carolina, and Pennsylvania.

strengthen the evidence base for Child First when implemented at scale during a uniquely challenging period, and to provide needed research on the populations most likely to benefit from these targeted services and supports.

The Impact of Home Visiting on Family, Caregiver, and Child Outcomes

There are many well-studied home visiting models, including deployment of nurses to promote infant and child health (Combs-Orme et al., 1985; Olds et al., 2004), expansion of Head Start via home visits to promote child development (Bilukha et al., 2005), and provision of homebased family support to promote positive parenting behaviors and prevent child maltreatment (Harding et al., 2007). Taken together, these programs seek to identify the strengths and needs of families with young children, provide education and support during home visits and through referrals to community services, and promote positive child development and caregiver and family well-being (Michalopoulos et al., 2019a).

Due in part to resource constraints, home visiting programs typically target families experiencing poverty (Minkovitz et al., 2016). The Family Stress Model (Conger & Conger, 2002) posits that economic disadvantage predicts greater economic pressure on families, creating emotional distress and depression for parents and leading to conflict and harsh parenting practices. Children exposed to such contexts are at heightened risk for poor social-emotional, internalizing, externalizing, and cognitive outcomes (DeCarlo Santiago et al., 2011). Building off the bioecological model of development (Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 1998), this framework posits that children are nested within a family microsystem where caregivers and immediate family members are the most powerful direct influences on their development. Home visiting programs aim to strengthen the family microsystem to promote a more emotionally supportive, healthy, and cognitively stimulating developmental context (Minkovitz et al., 2016), thereby resulting in improved outcomes for the child and family. The family microsystem is nested within a broader mesosystem that includes interactions between the family and other contexts, such as childcare providers and the caregiver's job. Home visitors also provide referrals to services and supports that promote positive engagement in broader mesosystemic contexts.

There is substantial evidence that preventive home visiting interventions can be effective in strengthening a range of caregiver, child, and family outcomes. For example, programs involving families with low incomes have improved caregivers' mental health (Duggan et al., 2004), parenting practices (Chazan-Cohen et al., 2013), and economic self-sufficiency (Olds, Kitzman, et al., 2004). As for young children, evidence from randomized controlled trials shows that home visiting can promote better child language (Olds et al., 2002) and behavioral outcomes (Caldera et al., 2007), while reducing child maltreatment (Kitzman et al., 1997). However, much of the literature on the efficacy of home visiting models focuses on a single geographic location or program site, in contexts that do not reflect recent implemented on a wider scale and in new settings, a trend supported by the Family First Prevention Services Act in 2018 (Family First Prevention Services Act, 2017–2018). There is thus further need for research to better un-

derstand the efficacy of evidence-based models when implemented at scale across diverse and contemporary settings and populations.

The Child First Home Visiting Program

Child First is a home visiting program with two components, each administered by one member of a two-person team. The first component is care coordination, which connects families to needed resources such as comprehensive, integrated services and supports to decrease psychosocial stress and promote positive outcomes. Extant work has shown that linking families to community services promotes better economic and psychological outcomes for caregivers (Olds et al., 1999). In addition to connecting families to needed resources, Child First care coordinators also support caregiver and child executive functioning as well as language-rich interactions that strengthen parent-child engagement through the Abecedarian approach (Sparling & Meunier, 2019). The second component of Child First is a trauma-informed dyadic relational intervention that promotes caregivers' executive functioning, responsive nurturing, and high-quality parentchild relationships-typically Child-Parent Psychotherapy (CPP) but including other interventions, such as Circle of Security, where appropriate—that is implemented in the family's home by a licensed clinician. Studies of CPP in other settings have found that the approach improved children's emotional regulation, cognitive development, attachment security and organization, and quality of parent-infant interactions, and reduced maternal depressive symptoms (Cicchetti et al., 2000; Field et al., 2000; Heinicke et al., 2001; Lieberman et al., 2006; Toth et al., 2006).

Lowell et al. (2011) conducted a randomized controlled trial of Child First at one site in Connecticut serving mostly Hispanic and Black mothers with low incomes and children ages 6 months to 36 months. The study found that Child First caregivers were three times less likely to report clinical levels of parenting stress 6 months after enrollment and four times less likely to report clinical depression 12 months after enrollment. There were also large reductions (OR = 4.7) in children's parent-reported behavior problems 12 months after study enrollment and families' involvement with the child welfare system 3 years after enrollment (OR = 2.1). Impressively, Child First halved the likelihood of eventual child welfare involvement for families who had yet to interact with that system.

Despite this evidence, questions remain about the impacts of Child First when implemented at scale across multiple sites and about the effects of the program on the broader range of outcomes targeted by Child First's service delivery model. Additionally, the earlier study of Child First did not examine impacts for the full age range of children—ages o to 6 years—served by the program. Finally, the earlier study lacked a sufficiently large sample size to examine how impacts may have varied for subgroups of families. To address these limitations, our team launched a randomized controlled trial across 10 sites in two states in the spring of 2019, aiming to collect data on 600 total families (split between a Child First treatment group and a business-as-usual control group). A little more than a third of the target sample enrolled in the study prior to March 2020, when COVID-19 forced Child First to switch to a telehealth model. The team halted study enrollment and shifted the research design to estimate the impacts of Child First delivered largely via telehealth services during the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Effects of Home Visiting During the Pandemic

Despite the obvious problems that the pandemic caused for the overarching study, this shift offered the opportunity to study the impacts of Child First delivered in a hybrid mode. There is a growing body of evidence that telehealth or hybrid services—involving both in-person and virtual supports—can be effective at supporting participation and engagement. Rybińska et al. (2022) examined program participation in an evidence-based postpartum home visiting intervention a year before and after the onset of the pandemic. While participation declined one year after the pandemic, the drop was less than 10 percentage points, leading researchers to conclude that hybrid services could be an effective approach for maximizing participation in times of public health uncertainty. Mogil et al. (2022) conducted a randomized controlled trial of a traumainformed and family-centered virtual home visiting program targeted at military families with children aged 3 years old to 6 years old. The study detected moderately large positive impacts on child affect and behavior (ES = 0.40) and parent affect and behavior for both mothers and fathers (ES = 0.43 and 0.34, respectively) 12 months after enrollment, and reductions in parents' post-traumatic stress symptoms (ES = 0.44) at 6 months after baseline, showing promise for telehealth services.

The Current Study

The pandemic caused significant disruptions to our original study design but provided an opportunity to examine the causal impact of Child First services administered via hybrid mode. This is an important contribution given the need for evidence on the effects of telehealth implementation, which can inform how and whether to use this mode of service delivery in the future. As such, the current study seeks to answer the following research questions:

- 1. Did Child First increase families' receipt of telehealth and other support services 12 months after study enrollment?
- 2. What are the impacts of Child First on families' economic well-being and caregivers' psychological well-being, substance abuse, and parenting stress 12 months after study enrollment?
- 3. What are the impacts of Child First on children's externalizing behaviors 12 months after study enrollment?

We then use exploratory analyses to examine whether caregiver and family outcomes varied by baseline depression, substance abuse, and involvement in the child welfare system, and whether child outcomes varied by caregiver-reported baseline behavior problems. Findings will provide information on the impacts of Child First when implemented at scale largely via telehealth services during the pandemic.

METHOD

Participants

The team recruited 10 Child First sites to participate in the study—nine smaller sites across Connecticut and one larger site in southeastern North Carolina. A total of 226 families consisting of a caregiver and a focal child enrolled between June 2019 and March 2020 (N = 148 in Connecticut; N = 78 in North Carolina). The study team randomly assigned 60% of families (N = 136) to receive Child First and 40% (N = 90) to a business-as-usual control group.² At the 12-month follow-up, 81% completed the caregiver-reported web survey (N = 111 program, N = 72control), with similar levels of attrition across the Child First and control groups.

Table 1 presents the demographic characteristics of the 183 families with data at baseline and the 12-month follow-up, or the analytic sample for the study. Approximately two thirds of children enrolled in the study were male and the average age of the child sample was 3.66 years (SD = 1.38). The average age of caregivers at enrollment was 34.48 years (SD = 10.63) and 73% of caregivers were the birth mothers of the focal child. Caregivers were diverse with respect to race and ethnicity, marital status, and education. About three quarters of families were in households with low incomes. Almost 60% of families had current or prior child welfare involvement. The study sample was representative of families enrolled in Child First in Connecticut and North Carolina from 2019 to the start of the pandemic.³

Procedure

The Institutional Review Board (IRB) at the lead organization for this study approved the human subjects plan prior to the commencement of study activities.

Site recruitment. Child First sites are affiliate agencies of the National Service Office for Nurse-Family Partnership and Child First. As such, their participation in the study was voluntary. To recruit sites, the study team met with affiliate agencies to discuss the goals of the study, study procedures, and roles and responsibilities. To be eligible for the study, sites were required to have a waitlist of families wanting Child First services, ensuring that demand for services exceeded supply and that random assignment could be implemented ethically. Sites that were eligible and agreed to participate received a study payment (\$1,300 - \$10,875) that was commensurate with the number of families they aimed to enroll. The study team provided sites with iPads to facilitate random assignment and study enrollment. Staff were told that they could keep the iPad at the

² We used a 60/40 random assignment ratio to address sites' concerns about needing to serve enough families to meet the program's funding requirements. The effects on statistical power were minimal when we used the 60/40 split rather than a 50/50 split.

³ Among the broader population of families served by Child First during this time, 68% of children were male and 67% of caregivers were biological mothers of focal children. Caregivers were 26% Hispanic, 46% non-Hispanic White, and 25% non-Hispanic Black. Some 68% of households identified as lowincome households.

TABLE 1

CHARACTERISTIC	OVERALL	PROGRAM	CONTROL
Child			
Age in years	3.66	3.71	3.57
Female (%)	35.52	33.33	38.89
Caregiver			
Age in years	34.48	34.93	33.79
Birth mother (%)	72.68	70.27	76.39
Race/ethnicity (%)			
Hispanic	31.87	33.64	29.17
Non-Hispanic White	43.96	44.55	43.06
Non-Hispanic Black	19.78	18.18	22.22
Non-Hispanic Other	4.40	3.64	5.56
Marital status (%)			
Married or living with partner	40.66	38.18	44.44
Divorced or separated	19.23	23.64	12.50*
Single, never married	39.56	37.27	43.06
Widowed	0.55	0.91	0.00
Work status (%)			
Unemployed	36.81	35.14	39.44
Part-time employment	29.67	30.63	28.17
Full-time employment	33.52	34.23	32.39
Highest level of education attained (%)			
Less than high school degree	12.78	13.64	11.43
High school degree or GED	27.22	22.73	34.29
Some college	45.56	46.36	44.29
Bachelor's degree or higher	14.44	17.27	10.00
Household (%)			
Has low income	73.68	74.76	72.06
Receives public assistance	74.59	73.64	76.06
Ever experienced homeless	17.71	13.33	24.29*
Any reported substance abuse	18.86	17.14	21.43
Any prior or current CPS involvement	58.33	59.63	56.34
Number of families	183	111	72

SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS OF THE ANALYTIC SAMPLE AT BASELINE

Note: Sample has limited missing data. GED = General Education Development test, CPS = child protective services. *** p < .01, ** p < .05, * p < .10.

end of enrollment and the team used this as another incentive for site participation. Sites located in areas with community services like Child First (i.e., offering in-home CPP) were excluded to maximize the service contrast between the treatment and control groups.

Families' enrollment into the study. To be eligible for the study, families needed to be eligible for Child First but could not have already participated in the program. They also needed to speak English or Spanish. They were ineligible if they exhibited suicidality or required immediate medical intervention for psychosis.⁴ As illustrated in Figure 1, 240 families were eligible to enroll in the study before the pandemic began. Of those, 226 agreed to participate in research activities and signed an informed consent. Families that did not agree to the research still went through the random assignment process (approved by sites and the IRB) to ensure that the sample was representative and there were no external incentives to refuse study participation.

Random assignment. Site supervisors screened new applications and referrals to the program to determine eligibility based on the agency and study criteria. Families eligible for the study were informed that the site was participating in a randomized controlled trial and that they would have a 60% chance of receiving Child First. Random assignment was conducted during the initial visit in the home or shortly thereafter. Families assigned to Child First began receiving services immediately. Families assigned to the control group received a list of alternative services available to them in the community and were subject to an 18-month embargo during which time they could not receive Child First services.

Baseline caregiver survey. Caregivers that provided consent were asked to complete a baseline survey during the first home visit prior to random assignment. Child First staff administered the first half of the survey, which included topics such as demographics and family structure. Caregivers self-administered the remaining questions, which were more sensitive, including items about substance abuse, psychological well-being, and the child's behavior. Caregivers that completed the survey received a \$50 gift card to thank them for their time.

Follow-up caregiver survey. The study team tracked caregivers' email addresses, phone numbers, and mailing addresses 3 months and 6 months after enrollment. We used baseline contact information, information from the tracking effort, and additional information provided by sites to locate caregivers for a 30-minute survey about 12 months after they enrolled. The team administered the survey from August 24, 2020 through March 13, 2021. Caregivers reported on their economic and psychological well-being, children's behaviors, and receipt of services during the previous year. Most caregivers completed the survey online via Qualtrics while a small group (5%) completed the survey over the phone. The average amount of time between enrollment and follow-up was 12.45 months (SD = 0.95, min = 10.72, max = 15.87). Caregivers that completed the follow-up survey received a \$30 gift card to thank them for their time. Differential attrition

⁴ If caregivers or children were eligible for Child First but not the study, sites continued to enroll them in services as normal. Teams were allotted a small number of "wildcards" (six were used across all sites during enrollment) to exempt families from random assignment if they determined that potentially denying services would be unethical.

FIGURE 1 CONSORT DIAGRAM



Note: *Sites were allotted a limited number of "wildcards" that allowed them to exclude eligible, high-risk families from the study and random assignment. Sites were allowed to use their own discretion for determining when to use a wildcard.

between the Child First and control groups (1.6%) was minimal. As seen in Table 2, follow-up survey respondents were representative of all initial study participants.

Programmatic data to assess dosage and fidelity. Child First's electronic health record tracks services received by families, including the number and length of visits and whether visits happened virtually or in person. We used data from this system to assess fidelity to the model for the 135 families assigned to the intervention. During the pandemic, Child First also started collecting data about the family's primary mode of contact, problems that may have begun or escalated during the pandemic, and assistance provided to families by staff.

Measures

The team aimed to collect similar measures at baseline and follow-up where possible (exceptions are noted below).

Treatment assignment. We coded treatment assignment at the family level, differentiating between families assigned to Child First (1) or the control group (0).

Families' economic stability. At enrollment, caregivers reported on several measures of economic stability. We created indicator variables coded as 1 if the category described the caregiver or family situation and o otherwise. Indicators included employment status (employed full time, employed part time, or unemployed), whether the family had received any public assistance (Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program or SNAP, unemployment insurance or UI, and Temporary Assistance for Needy Families or TANF) in the past month, and whether the family had ever experienced homelessness. We also collected information on the number of jobs held, number of hours worked, and total earnings in the past month. The team collected similar measures at follow-up and then assessed whether the caregiver had lost a job in the previous year, whether the caregiver lost their job due to the pandemic, the number of times the family moved, whether the family was ever evicted, and whether the caregiver and child ever lived apart.

Food insecurity. We measured food insecurity at baseline with two items from the United States Department of Agriculture's index of food insecurity: "I worried whether our food would run out before we got money to buy more" and "The food I bought just didn't last and we didn't have money to get more" (adapted in Michalopoulos et al., 2019b). If the caregiver indicated worry about either item, then the household was considered food insecure (coded as 1). Due to time constraints, only the latter question was used to assess food insecurity at follow-up.

Substance abuse. We created a binary measure of substance abuse based on caregiver reports of heavy alcohol use and drug use at baseline and follow-up. We defined alcohol abuse as drinking an average of seven or more alcoholic beverages in a week in the past three months. We coded drug use based on reported use of any illicit drugs, as well as any prescription drugs (including opioids) and marijuana used without a prescription, in larger amounts than prescribed or for a longer period than prescribed. At baseline, we also included caregivers that had received help for substance abuse in the past year within this group. This is similar to how substance abuse has been captured in similar scaled studies of home visiting (Michalopoulos et al., 2019b).

TABLE 2

CHARACTERISTIC	ALL FAMILIES	ANALYSIS SAMPLE
Child		
Age in years	3.63	3.66
Female (%)	37.61	35.52
Caregiver		
Age in years	34.08	34.48
Birth mother (%)	73.45	72.68
Race/ethnicity (%)		
Hispanic	33.48	31.87
Non-Hispanic White	44.20	43.96
Non-Hispanic Black	18.30	19.78
Non-Hispanic Other	4.02	4.40
Marital status (%)		
Married or living with partner	40.89	40.66
Divorced or separated	17.78	19.23
Single, never married	40.44	39.56
Widowed	0.89	0.55
Work status (%)		
Unemployed	38.22	36.81
Part-time employment	28.44	29.67
Full-time employment	33.33	33.52
Highest level of education attained (%)		
Less than high school degree	15.70	12.78
High school degree or GED	27.35	27.22
Some college	44.39	45.56
Bachelor's degree or higher	12.56	14.44
Household (%)		
Has low income	75.00	73.68
Receives public assistance	75.45	74.59
Ever experienced homeless	16.97	17.71
Any reported substance abuse	20.56	18.86
Any prior or current CPS involvement	58.18	58.33
Number of families	226	183

SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS OF RANDOMLY ASSIGNED FAMILIES AND ANALYTIC SAMPLE AT BASELINE

Note: N = Sample has limited missing data. GED = General Education Development test, CPS = child protective services.

Caregiver psychological well-being. Caregivers completed the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale-Revised version (CESD-R; Eaton et al., 2004) at baseline and follow-up. The measure has demonstrated good psychometric properties in prior work (Van Dam & Earleywine, 2011). Items are rated on a o to 4 scale with responses ranging from *not at all or less than one day* to *nearly every day for two weeks*. The team dropped one item ("I wished I were dead") out of a total of 20 due to the sensitivity of the question. Despite this, the internal validity of the scale was high at both baseline ($\alpha = 0.94$) and follow-up ($\alpha = 0.95$). Following established procedures (Van Dam & Earleywine, 2011), the team created an indicator of clinical depression for anyone with a sum score over 16.

At follow-up, caregiver psychological well-being was also measured using the caregiver-reported Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI; Derogatis, 1993). The team excluded one item ("Thoughts about ending your life") out of a total of 18 due to sensitivity within the population. This measure was included because it was used in the original randomized controlled trial of Child First (Lowell et al., 2011). Items were rated on a scale from 0 to 4 with responses ranging from *not at all* to *extremely*. We then calculated one global score, and scores for three subscales (somatization, depression, and anxiety) by averaging the items within the target domain. All the scales demonstrated good evidence of internal reliability (global scale: $\alpha = 0.94$; depression: $\alpha = 0.92$; anxiety: $\alpha = 0.90$; somatization: $\alpha = 0.80$). Prior work on this measure has also found that it has good evidence for concurrent and predictive validity (Boulet & Boss, 1991).

Child behavior problems. Caregivers of children younger than 3 years old at baseline completed the Brief Infant-Toddler Social and Emotional Assessment (BITSEA; Briggs-Gowan et al., 2004), a 42-item standardized screener consisting of five subscales: externalizing behaviors, internalizing behaviors, dysregulation, problem behavior, and competence. Prior work examining the assessment in similarly aged populations has found evidence of acceptable reliability and validity (Karabekiroglu et al., 2010). Caregivers rated items on a scale from o to 2 with responses ranging from *not true/rarely* to *very true/often*. We used only the externalizing ($\alpha = 0.85$) and dysfunctional ($\alpha = 0.77$) behaviors subscales at baseline as covariates in analyses estimating impacts on those same behaviors for children in this younger age group at follow-up (externalizing $\alpha = 0.80$, dysfunctional behaviors $\alpha = 0.75$). These were the domains hypothesized to be most affected by Child First (Lowell et al., 2011). Prior work evaluating Child First used a similar approach with children younger than 4 years old at the 12-month follow-up (Lowell et al., 2011).

Caregivers with focal children older than 3 years old at baseline completed the Preschool and Kindergarten Behavior Scales-Second Edition (PKBS-2; Merrell, 2003) at study enrollment and at follow-up. This assessment contains 76 items and consists of two subscales: social skills and behavior problems. Items are rated from 0 to 3 with responses ranging from *never* to *often*. On the 12-month follow-up survey caregivers were only asked to report on 24 total items from the behavior problems subscale to reduce the burden and limit redundant questions. The team used those 24 items to create baseline and follow-up measures, which had excellent internal reliability at both time points (baseline: $\alpha = 0.93$; follow-up: $\alpha = 0.96$).

Parenting stress. At the 12-month follow-up (and not at baseline), caregivers completed two out of three subscales from the short form of the Parenting Stress Index (PSI; Whiteside-Mansell

et al., 2007): parental distress and parent-child dysfunctional interaction. In response to these questions, caregivers rated items on a scale from 1 to 4 with responses ranging from *strongly agree* to *strongly disagree*. Both domains had evidence of internal consistency (parental distress: $\alpha = 0.85$; parent-child dysfunctional interaction: $\alpha = 0.78$).

Involvement in child welfare. At baseline caregivers reported on whether they were currently involved in the child welfare system (1 = yes, o = no) or had been in the past (1 = any involvement past or current, o = no involvement). Caregivers then reported at follow-up whether they had been involved with the child welfare system since study enrollment (1 = yes, o = no).

Receipt of services. At the 12-month follow-up caregivers reported on services they received since study enrollment, including any telehealth services via video or phone call (1 = yes, o = no); any telehealth support during COVID-19 via video or phone call (1 = yes, o = no); food assistance (1 = yes, o = no); any financial assistance which included anything related to technology, household, food, or income (1 = yes, o = no); services for child behavior (1 = yes, o = no); and services for domestic violence or counseling (1 = yes, o = no).

Child, caregiver, and family demographic characteristics. We measured several child and caregiver characteristics at study enrollment and used the information to describe the sample, complete baseline equivalence checks, and create covariates for impact analyses. We assessed caregiver age; child age; child gender; race/ethnicity of the caregiver (Hispanic, non-Hispanic Black, non-Hispanic other, and non-Hispanic White); whether the caregiver was married or partnered (1 = yes, o = no); employment (working part time, working full time, or not employed); caregiver education (less than high school degree, high school degree or GED, some college, or bachelor's degree or higher); whether the family had received any public assistance in the month prior to study entry; any reported substance use at enrollment; the number of individuals living in the household; and whether the caregiver spoke a language other than English.

Analytic Approach

Baseline equivalence. We used independent samples t-tests to compare child, caregiver, and family characteristics between the treatment and control groups at study enrollment and determined whether there were any observable pretreatment differences between the groups.

Descriptive analysis. We calculated means and frequencies to describe assessment scores and caregiver and family experiences at baseline (where available) and at the 12-month follow-up. We used independent samples t-tests to determine whether differences between the treatment and control groups at follow-up were statistically significant.

Service delivery analysis. We calculated descriptive statistics to understand the experiences of families assigned to Child First. The team limited the examination of general service delivery (e.g., duration, number of visits, and average length of visits) to the 12 months immediately following study enrollment. Child First has an established schedule to determine dosage. Home visits with both the clinician and care coordinator should occur twice per week during the first month of enrollment. After that families should receive at minimum weekly visits lasting 60

to 90 minutes. Families should be served for a period of 6 months to 12 months, depending on need and the speed at which they complete program activities. We compared treatment group families' receipt of services to these guidelines to evaluate implementation fidelity.

Impact analysis. The team used an intent-to-treat approach to estimate the impact of Child First on outcomes. As such, all families enrolled in the study were retained in the analysis and included in their original random assignment group regardless of service receipt. This approach is considered the gold standard in evaluation research and, assuming random assignment succeeded in producing equivalent groups, allows us to estimate *causal impacts* of Child First compared to business-as-usual services in the community.

We estimated impacts using OLS regressions with fixed effects for site. We regressed each outcome on an indicator for assignment to Child First (1 = yes, o = no), the level of the outcome measured at baseline or its proxy, and fixed effects for the Child First site. All models were adjusted for a suite of characteristics collected at study entry: child and caregiver age, child gender, caregiver race/ethnicity, caregiver married or living with partner, caregiver employment, caregiver education, family receipt of public assistance, caregiver self-reported substance abuse, family previous or current involvement with the child welfare system, household size, and English as the primary language spoken by the caregiver. We also controlled for family homelessness experience in the residential mobility impact model. In analyses predicting binary outcomes, the team estimated impacts with linear probability models, which are essentially OLS regressions but allow coefficients to be interpreted as percentage point differences between the treatment and control groups. This approach is widely used for binary outcomes with appropriate sample sizes as it improves transparency and the interpretation of impact estimates (Gomila, 2021).

We operationalized the child behavior outcome in three ways. To combine measures across age ranges, we standardized scores (i.e., created z-scores) within age groups. This allowed us to estimate impacts regardless of the assessment completed. We also created scores based on the same five items mapped across assessments. Finally, we fit separate impact models within each age group using raw scores to calculate impacts on assessments separately.

The variable of interest in the impact model is the coefficient on the treatment indicator and the corresponding standard error and p-value. This coefficient represents the difference in the outcome between the treatment and the control group. We set alpha equal to 0.10 as a threshold for statistical significance in the study. The team justified this decision given the small sample size, the lack of evidence on how Child First might benefit families during the pandemic, and the exploratory nature of the study (Kyriacou, 2016).

Subgroup analysis. We fit a series of additional exploratory models to examine variation in impacts for conceptually important subgroups—caregivers' evidence of depression at baseline, child behavior problems at baseline, and prior involvement in child welfare. We added interaction terms between the treatment indicator and subgroup characteristic to each impact model and tested each subgroup impact separately.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

Evidence of baseline equivalence. As illustrated in Table 2, we found that families assigned to Child First were similar to families assigned to the control condition across most characteristics (91%). There were two statistically significant (p < .10) differences—whether the caregiver was divorced or separated and whether the family ever experienced homelessness. However, given the large number of characteristics observed (N = 23), it was likely that some differences would occur by chance. To address instances of non-equivalence and to improve the precision of estimates, we controlled for a robust set of covariates (described above) in impact models, including caregiver marital status and history of homelessness.

Descriptive statistics and change in outcomes over time. Table 3 presents proportions for binary outcomes and means for continuous outcomes at baseline and follow-up by treatment status. We did not observe any statistically significant differences between the treatment and control groups on measures captured at baseline. At the 12-month follow-up there were five statistically significant (p <.10) differences between the groups—whether the family received any telehealth services, whether the family received telehealth services during COVID, whether the family received help or support for child behavior, whether the family ever moved during random assignment, and whether the caregiver self-reported any substance abuse.

Among non-statistically significant results there were some interesting trends in the data. At follow-up there were much lower levels of receipt of domestic violence services, slightly higher receipt of SNAP, and lower reports of food insecurity compared to baseline reports. Depression among treatment group caregivers stayed the same but increased among control group caregivers by over 5 percentage points at follow-up. Child behavioral problems decreased for both groups at follow-up compared to baseline.

Intervention fidelity and dosage. Table 4 presents service delivery findings for families (N = 135) assigned to the intervention one year after enrollment. Generally, families received services at a level aligned with the program model. Treatment families participated in Child First for 7.74 months (SD = 3.92) and received 30.44 visits (SD = 21.42). Visits lasted about 55 minutes on average (SD = 15.75). Additionally, most families (75.76%) received at least one telehealth visit, with families receiving 15.70 telehealth visits on average (SD = 16.25). About 44% of the sample received over half of their visits via telehealth. After the start of the pandemic, the primary mode of contact between Child First and families was video/telehealth (69.47%), followed by voice-only (28.42%) contact. Parenting stress was the most frequently reported problem to develop or increase during the pandemic followed by child behavioral problems and caregiver depression. Material goods made up the three most common types of assistance provided through care coordination. These types of assistance included gift cards (25.95%), toys and books (24.43%), and COVID-19 testing (21.37%).

TABLE 3

UNADJUSTED SAMPLE STATISTICS AT BASELINE AND FOLLOW-UP BY TREATMENT STATUS

	BASELINE		FOLLOW-UP	
	PROGRAM	CONTROL	PROGRAM	CONTROL
Assistance/support receipt (%)				
Any telehealth services			60.19	42.03**
Telehealth support during COVID-19			28.16	8.57***
Food assistance			42.72	42.86
Any financial assistance			61.90	56.34
Help or support for child behavior			54.90	38.57**
Domestic violence services or counseling	22.86	19.44	5.66	4.23
Socioeconomic (%)				
Currently working for pay or self-employed	64.86	61.11	53.21	48.57
Lost job since random assignment			22.02	30.56
Received unemployment insurance			21.70	20.00
Received SNAP	55.45	45.07	56.19	57.14
Experienced food insecurity	37.38	45.07	35.85	38.57
Housing stability (%)				
Ever moved since random assignment			24.76	37.14*
Caregiver lived apart from child since random assignment			8.18	11.11
Involvement with the child welfare system (%)	59.63	56.34	29.81	30.88
Caregiver psychosocial well-being				
Any substance abuse (%)	17.14	21.43	2.91	12.86**
Clinical depression (CESD-R) (%)	25.23	18.31	24.55	23.94
Brief Symptom Inventory				
Global severity average (0-4)			0.49	0.47
Somatic subscale average (0-4)			0.38	0.31
Depression subscale average (0-4)			0.58	0.61
Anxiety subscale average (0-4)			0.53	0.51
Parenting Stress Index Short Form				
Dysfunctional subscale average score (1-4)			1.43	1.46
Distress subscale average score (1-4)			1.94	1.85
Child outcomes				
BITSEA				
Externalizing subscale (0-2)	0.78	0.60	0.59	0.33
Dysfunction subscale (0-2)	0.70	0.54	0.50	0.34
PKBS-2				
Externalizing subscale (0-3)	1.84	1.84	1.65	1.61
Number of families	111	72		

Notes: Sample has limited missing data. CESD-R = Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale. BITSEA = Brief Infant-Toddler Social and Emotional Assessment. PKBS-2 = Preschool and Kindergarten Behavior Scales - 2nd Edition. *** p < .01, ** p < .05, * p < .10.

CHARACTERISTIC	MEAN OR PERCENTAGE	STANDARD DEVIATION
Duration of service in months	7.74	3.92
Number of visits	30.44	21.42
Length of visits in minutes	54.99	15.75
Telehealth		
Ever received telehealth visit (%)	75.76	-
Number of telehealth visits	15.70	16.25
Received majority of visits via telehealth (%)	43.94	-
COVID-19 services (%)		
Primary mode of contact		
Video/telehealth	69.47	-
Voice only	28.42	-
Problems that began, escalated, or increased during the pandemic		-
Parenting stress	39.69	-
None	26.72	-
Child behavioral problems	17.56	-
Caregiver depression	17.56	-
Did Child First help with the following problems?		-
Parenting stress	96.15	-
Child behavioral problems	78.26	-
Caregiver depression	82.61	-
Assistance accessed or provided through care coordination		
Gift cards	25.95	-
Toys and books	24.43	-
COVID-19 testing	21.37	-
Number of program families	135	

TABLE 4 CHILD FIRST SERVICE DELIVERY

Note: Sample has limited missing data. Duration of service is limited to the first 12 months post random assignment. The items related to the help provided by Child First only represent the opinion of caregivers that reported that problem.

Impact Analysis

Research Question 1: Impacts of Child First on families' receipt of services and support during the pandemic. As illustrated in Table 5, Child First increased the percentage of families who were able to access virtual services during the pandemic ($\gamma = .16$, SE = .07, p = < .01). Coefficients can be interpreted as percentage point differences between the treatment and control groups. Impacts

	TABLE 5	
IMPACTS A	Г 12- МОНТН	FOLLOW-UP

OUTCOME	PROGRAM	CONTROL	DIFFERENCE/ IMPACT	STANDARD ERROR	
Assistance/support receipt (%)					
Any telehealth services since random assignment	55.63	42.36	13.28	8.27	
Telehealth support during COVID-19	24.39	8.44	15.95	6.65	**
Food assistance since random assignment	43.07	42.09	0.98	8.59	
Any financial assistance since random assignment	59.27	55.78	3.49	8.38	
Help or support for child behavior since random assignment	51.94	39.19	12.75	8.31	
Domestic violence services or counseling since random assignment	4.43	4.50	-0.06	3.31	
Socioeconomic (%)					
Currently working for pay or self-employed	51.09	49.87	1.22	7.11	
Lost job since random assignment	19.79	33.24	-13.45	7.28	*
Received unemployment insurance since random assignment	22.65	21.40	1.25	6.95	
Received SNAP since random assignment	52.69	59.48	-6.79	6.16	
Experienced food insecurity since random assignment	35.06	33.46	1.59	7.23	
Housing stability (%)					
Ever moved since random assignment	23.64	36.65	-13.01	7.55	*
Caregiver lived apart from child since random	9.09	12.30	-3.21	5.14	
assignment					
Involvement with the child welfare system (%)	27.77	32.16	-4.39	7.00	
Caregiver psychosocial well-being					
Any substance abuse (%)	4.05	11.67	-7.62	4.12	*
CESD-R					
Depression cutoff (%)	25.26	25.38	-0.12	7.07	
Brief Symptom Inventory					
Global severity average (0-4)	0.44	0.49	-0.05	0.10	
Somatic subscale average (0-4)	0.34	0.31	0.03	0.08	
Depression subscale average (0-4)	0.52	0.66	-0.14	0.13	
Anxiety subscale average (0-4)	0.47	0.55	-0.07	0.12	
Parenting Stress Index Short Form					
Dysfunctional subscale average score (1-4)	1.40	1.48	-0.07	0.10	

(continued)

OUTCOME	PROGRAM	CONTROL	DIFFERENCE/ IMPACT	STANDARD ERROR	
Distress subscale average score (1-4)	1.94	1.92	0.02	0.14	_
Child behavior					
Standardized externalizing/dysfunctional subscale (units)	0.00	-0.05	0.05	0.14	
5-item cross domain subscale average (0-3)	1.41	1.40	0.01	0.12	
BITSEA					
Externalizing/dysfunctional subscale average (0-2)	0.53	0.32	0.20	0.15	
PKBS-2					
Externalizing subscale average (0-3)	1.62	1.64	-0.01	0.12	
Number of families	111	72			

TABLE 5 (CONTINUED)

Notes: CESD-R = Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale. BITSEA = Brief Infant-Toddler Social and Emotional Assessment. PKBS-2 = Preschool and Kindergarten Behavior Scales - 2nd Edition. At follow up, 43 children completed the BITSEA and 135 completed the PKBS-2. Three caregivers reported not living with the focal child at follow up or living apart for more than 10 months since baseline and did not complete the child assessment. Sample has limited missing data. *** p < .01, ** p < .05, * p < .10.

Baseline controls include: caregiver age, child age, child gender, caregiver race/ethnicity, caregiver married or partnered, employment status, caregiver education level, whether the family received any assistance [Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF), Supplemental Security Income (SSI), and Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC)], any substance use, past or current child welfare involvement, number of individuals in the household, caregiver speaks a language other than English, site indicators, and outcome control measures, if available.

on food assistance, financial assistance, help or support for child behavior, and domestic violence services or counseling were not statistically significant. The team multiplied impacts for binary outcomes by 100 so that impacts would be more easily interpreted as percentage point differences. The standard errors in Table 5, however, correspond to the form of the impact divided by 100.

Research Question 2: Impacts of Child First on families' economic well-being and caregiver's psychological well-being, substance abuse, and parenting stress. As summarized in Table 5, Child First reduced the likelihood of a caregiver losing a job ($\gamma = -.13$, SE = .07, p = <.10), reduced caregivers' self-reported substance abuse ($\gamma = -.08$, SE = .04, p = <.10), and reduced families' residential mobility ($\gamma = -.13$, SE = .08, p = <.10) in the 12 months after random assignment. These impacts were all sizeable, ranging from an 8 to 13 percentage point difference in the outcome between the treatment and control groups.

Importantly, however, there were no statistically significant impacts on caregivers' depressive symptoms, parenting stress, or self-reported involvement in the child welfare system. Given limited statistical power, we examined the *direction* of the impacts within this domain. We found that 11 out of 16 tests were in a direction favoring Child First, with the remaining effects close to 0. This pattern suggests a need for further study with a larger sample to generate the power needed to detect statistically significant differences between groups on these outcomes.

Research Question 3: Impact of Child First on children's externalizing behavior problems.

Table 5 summarizes the results from models examining child behavior problems. We did not

find evidence that Child First reduced children's caregiver-reported behavior problems across multiple checks. All three approaches resulted in a pattern of null—and close to o—impacts on child behaviors. Notably, the bulk of the child-level sample was made up of children older than 3 years at enrollment (N = 135); only 43 children were in the younger group.

Exploratory subgroup analyses. We found a statistically significant interaction between assignment to Child First and the indicator for clinical depression at baseline (coefficient = -3.43, SE = 1.41, p = <.05) in the model predicting parenting dysfunction, a dimension of parenting stress. As seen in Figure 2, among parents who reported clinical depression at baseline, Child First reduced parenting dysfunction by 0.76 SD. However, we did not find that impacts on other outcomes varied by clinical depression, involvement in child welfare, or child behavior.

FIGURE 2



Sensitivity checks. We examined the robustness of the results to measurement decisions, model structure, and the number of impact models that we fit. We found that our substantive results

Note: *** p < .01, ** p < .05, * p < .10.

were consistent across checks (see more in Table 6).

Impacts of Home Visiting During the Pandemic

BOX 1

SUMMARY OF SENSITIVITY CHECKS

The team conducted several robustness checks to evaluate the consistency of our results. Below we summarize findings from this additional analytic work. Findings across our robustness checks were generally consistent with the results reported in the main text.

Measurement approaches. In cases where we operationalized scales using the average of the non-missing items in the scale, like caregiver and child well-being assessments, we also used summed scores to examine whether results were consistent across approaches. We ran models using these alternate measures and found that the magnitude of coefficients was the same and did not find any new statistically significant results.

Controlling for state effects. We fit a set of impact models with a state fixed effect for North Carolina rather than fixed effects for individual sites. All four of the caregiver and family outcomes reported in the main text were still statistically significant in the robustness checks. Whether families received telehealth support during the pandemic was still statistically significant, which we had concluded to be a major driver of findings in the main report and so we remain confident in our findings. Our key economic well-being and self-report of substance abuse findings remained statistically significant. In fact, the self-report of substance abuse finding increased in significance to p < .05. There were no differences between state fixed effect and site fixed effects child impact models. Results are presented in Table 6.

We also added interaction terms between the treatment indicator and state indicator for North Carolina to each impact model. We did not see any evidence that the effect of Child First varied across states.

Number of impact models. We used a series of omnibus tests to examine the general pattern of results and to consider the likelihood that overall, the program had a positive effect on parents and children. We felt that this was important given concerns about multiple comparisons (despite the largely exploratory nature of the current study). As noted in the impact tables, the general pattern of results was positive, and the omnibus test suggests that that was not likely due to chance. These results are encouraging because they suggest that with a better powered study—and a more intensive treatment—we could observe positive impacts of Child First at scale across a broader range of target outcomes, including caregivers' psychological well-being.

TABLE 6

IMPACTS AT 12-MONTH FOLLOW-UP CONTROLLING FOR STATE

OUTCOME	PROGRAM	CONTROL	DIFFERENCE/ IMPACT	STANDARD ERROR
Assistance/support receipt (%)			I	
Any telehealth services since random assignment	54.88	43.48	11.40	8.46
Telehealth support during COVID-19	24.18	8.74	15.44	6.58 **
Food assistance since random assignment	42.67	42.68	-0.01	8.48
Any financial assistance since random assignment	58.75	56.54	2.21	8.44
Help or support for child behavior since random	51.44	39.94	11.50	8.33
assignment				
Domestic violence services or counseling since random	3.91	5.25	-1.34	3.44
assignment				
Socioeconomic (%)				
Currently working for pay or self-employed	51.14	49.80	1.33	6.97
Lost job since random assignment	20.30	32.48	-12.18	7.26 *
Received unemployment insurance since random	21.96	22.44	-0.49	6.96
assignment				
Received SNAP since random assignment	52.63	59.56	-6.93	6.09
Experienced food insecurity since random assignment	35.26	33.17	2.09	7.15
Housing stability (%)				
Ever moved since random assignment	23.46	36.92	-13.46	7.42 *
Caregiver lived apart from child since random assignment	9.12	12.26	-3.13	5.04
Involvement with the child welfare system (%)	27.18	33.08	-5.91	7.00
Caregiver psychosocial well-being				
Any substance abuse (%)	3.74	12.13	-8.39	4.07 **
CESD-R				
Depression cutoff (%)	25.05	25.72	-0.67	6.92
Brief Symptom Inventory				
Global severity average (0-4)	0.44	0.50	-0.06	0.09
Somatic subscale average (0-4)	0.34	0.31	0.02	0.08
Depression subscale average (0-4)	0.52	0.66	-0.15	0.13
Anxiety subscale average (0-4)	0.47	0.55	-0.07	0.11
Parenting Stress Index Short Form				
Dysfunctional subscale average score (1-4)	1.40	1.48	-0.08	0.10
Distress subscale average score (1-4)	1.94	1.93	0.01	0.14

(continued)

OUTCOME	PROGRAM	CONTROL	DIFFERENCE/ IMPACT	STANDARD ERROR
Child behavior				
Standardized externalizing/dysfunctional subscale (units)	-0.01	-0.04	0.04	0.14
5-item cross domain subscale average (0-3)	1.41	1.40	0.01	0.11
BITSEA				
Externalizing/dysfunctional subscale average (0-2)	0.47	0.39	0.08	0.13
PKBS-2				
Externalizing subscale average (0-3)	1.62	1.63	-0.01	0.12
Number of families	111	72		

TABLE 6 (CONTINUED)

Notes: CESD-R = Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale. BITSEA = Brief Infant-Toddler Social and Emotional Assessment. PKBS-2 = Preschool and Kindergarten Behavior Scales - 2nd Edition. At follow up, 43 children completed the BITSEA and 135 completed the PKBS-2. Three caregivers reported not living with the focal child at follow up or living apart for more than 10 months since baseline and did not complete the child assessment. Sample has limited missing data. *** p < .01, ** p < .05, * p < .10.

Baseline controls include: caregiver age, child age, child gender, caregiver race/ethnicity, caregiver married or partnered, employment status, caregiver education level, whether the family received any assistance [Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF), Supplemental Security Income (SSI), and Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC)] any substance use, past or current child welfare involvement, number of individuals in the household, caregiver speaks a language other than English, state indicator, and outcome control measures, if available.

DISCUSSION

This study sought to add important evidence to the existing literature on the impacts of home visiting. The timing of our research coincided with the COVID-19 pandemic, presenting a unique opportunity to study the causal effects of Child First when implemented using a combination of in-person and telehealth services during the pandemic. On average, families received a high dosage of Child First during the study, and a large proportion of the sample (44%) received over half their visits via telehealth services. We found positive effects on some key outcomes for caregivers and families during a challenging time, suggesting that Child First was successful in connecting with families via telehealth and tailoring services during the pandemic.

Specifically, Child First demonstrated benefits in two key areas of family economic self-sufficiency and well-being: caregivers in the treatment group were less likely to lose their jobs and families were less likely to move. The moderately sized effects demonstrate that Child First made a meaningful difference in families' ability to navigate the economic challenges caused by the pandemic. These effects were somewhat unexpected and may be due in part to the unique context of the study. Findings may reflect Child First staff members refocusing their work to address essential and immediate economic needs during the pandemic, which also supports long-term economic stability for families. Decreasing the likelihood of job loss—and thus strengthening economic stability—not only benefits the family's overall economic well-being, but also has the potential to positively shape the quality of the environment in which the child grows up (Morris & Gennetian, 2003). Pandemic-related job loss has also been found to be a key risk factor for child maltreatment (Lawson et al., 2020) and emotional or physical abuse (Ma et al., 2022). The impact on job loss could partially explain why Child First reduced residential instability. That, and Child First helping families access needed financial support or providing gift cards that improved economic stability, could have made it possible for families to stay in their current homes. This impact is important in this context given linkages between greater residential mobility in early childhood and a higher frequency of behavior problems in children from families with low incomes (Ziol-Guest & McKenna, 2014).

The reduction in reported substance abuse among the treatment group is a policy-relevant and potentially multigenerational benefit for families participating in Child First. The rates of substance abuse were low at follow-up (4% program, 12% control), which may reflect some social desirability bias in self-reporting. Even so, this approach for gathering information on substance abuse is standard and has shown to be reliable in the literature (Murphy et al., 2010). A reduction of 8 percentage points in substance abuse is significant given the high societal cost of treatment and the negative implications of substance abuse on employment (Terza & Vechnak, 2007), self-psychological well-being (Volkow, 2001), and children's well-being (Kuppens et al., 2019). Additionally, during the pandemic there was a significant increase in drinking and drug use among adults in the United States (National Institute of Drug Abuse, 2022) and parents who drank alcohol both monthly and weekly had higher levels of parental stress and greater odds of punitive parenting (Wolf et al., 2021). Further research is needed to test whether this impact can be replicated in a post-pandemic context.

While we did find some encouraging results—particularly given that this study examined Child First when implemented at scale—our study failed to detect statistically significant impacts on several target outcomes, including child behaviors, families' involvement in child welfare, and caregivers' depression and parenting stress. Prior work had found impacts of the program on these outcomes captured at various follow-up time points (Lowell et al., 2011). One challenge our study faced, however, was that the enrolled sample was only about one third of the planned sample size needed for a fully powered study of a scaled model. Most impact estimates on caregivers were in the hypothesized direction but failed to reach statistical significance.

In addition, the dosage of Child First delivered virtually may not have been sufficient to impact outcomes that may require intensive, in-person clinical services. Research done early in the pandemic found that it was challenging for young children to participate in any type of virtual home visiting service (Korfmacher et al., 2021b), meaning that children in particular may have experienced little direct intervention via the virtual supports. Nationally, home visitors reported difficulty keeping children engaged and in view during virtual visits, and about 60% of home visitors agreed that they needed to use more strategic coaching of caregiver-child interaction during visits (Korfmacher et al., 2021a). It is possible that children enrolled in Child First were not as receptive to virtual therapeutic interventions, like CPP, as they would have been if provided via in-person services, and it may have taken time for staff to adapt to this mode of administration. Child behavior problems were not high at enrollment and decreased over time, suggesting that these challenges may not have been as urgent for home visitors to address as employment and income needs, especially during the pandemic. After the first year of the pandemic, home visitors participating in another national study reported that they spent most of their time interacting with just the caregiver, and spent the majority of this time providing information, asking for information, or listening. They reported spending very little time observing the caregiver and child or modeling parent-child behaviors (Korfmacher et al., 2021a). In this virtual setting, it is possible that the Child First home visiting teams were simply not able to spend as much time on the relationship-based aspect of the intervention, which may have affected the pattern of impacts.

In addition, despite not receiving Child First, we observed that control group families accessed a wide range of services in the community. It is possible that the difference in services received between the treatment and control groups—perhaps due in part to the expansion of services and supports (spurred on by unprecedented federal funding) during the pandemic—were not sufficient to detect statistically significant impacts between groups on some outcomes. Finally, it is possible that our follow-up time point might have missed some positive effects that faded out by the time the data were collected. For example, in the original trial, the team observed reductions in parenting stress at 6 months after enrollment but not at 12 months (Lowell et al., 2011). Conversely, it might also take a longer time for the benefits of the program to emerge on outcomes like involvement in the child welfare system. Again, the original study found reductions in involvement in child welfare at 36 months after enrollment but did not detect those effects at earlier time points (Lowell et al., 2011).

We did find reductions in parent-child dysfunctional interaction (the name of the subscale measured within the Parenting Stress Index) in families where caregivers reported clinical depression at study entry. As seen in the service delivery data, parenting stress was a new or increasing issue for a large proportion of families during the pandemic, which the program was seemingly able to address. This finding aligns with risk and resilience frameworks highlighting the importance of providing key supports to those who have demonstrated critical risk characteristics (Cicchetti et al., 2000)—in this context, caregivers with clinical depression. Reducing a dimension of parenting stress during this time may have been particularly salient because changes brought about by the pandemic placed additional stress upon parents and increased the risk of parental burnout, a key risk factor for future child abuse and neglect (Griffith, 2022). The inability to detect other statistically significant interactions is likely due to limited statistical power, but also may be due to all families experiencing multiple challenges during the study period, regardless of risk factors at enrollment. This limited our ability to discern which groups would benefit most from Child First under normal circumstances.

Limitations

There are a few limitations that the team will seek to address in future work. The smaller than expected sample size limited our ability to detect statistically significant interactions in subgroup analyses. We are restarting this randomized controlled trial in a post-pandemic context and aim to enroll 600 families so that analyses will be powered to detect impacts of less than .15 standard deviations. Another potential limitation is that control group families may have accessed similar services as treatment group families during the pandemic. Many services switched to virtual during the pandemic, which may have made more resources accessible and possibly minimized the service differential between groups. Additionally, we observed two statistically significant differences between the treatment and control groups at baseline. While we controlled for these characteristics in our models, a larger sample size will help avoid any non-equivalence in future work. Finally, our outcomes are based on caregiver self-reports. Future work will aim to include direct assessments of children and administrative data on families to triangulate findings across follow-up data sources. It will also include implementation research that will provide more detail on the experiences of the home visitors and caregivers—a key aspect that can further contextualize our findings.

Implications for Policy and Practice

This study observed some beneficial impacts of Child First when implemented at scale using a hybrid service delivery model immediately before and at the onset of the pandemic. Although many home visiting services have resumed in-person operations, telehealth services will likely continue to be used for the foreseeable future, as they provide a convenient way to serve families who have limited availability or do not want visitors in their home. Even during a uniquely challenging time, the Child First intervention administered in a hybrid format demonstrated improved employment, residential stability, substance abuse, and service receipt outcomes when the program was examined at scale. The ability of Child First to quickly pivot services to meet the immediate needs of families is also promising. However, findings suggest that telehealth is a helpful mode of care coordination and not psychotherapy, given the lack of findings in key domains. The null effects on caregivers' psychological well-being, parenting stress, and children's behavior problems suggests that telehealth may not be able to generate the same benefits as in-person supports. Thus, further research—with larger samples—is necessary to determine whether clinical psychotherapy may require in-person connection with the family or major adaptations to successfully administer remotely.



- Ammerman, R. T., Altaye, M., Putnam, F. W., Teeters, A. R., Zou, Y., & Van Ginkel, J. B. (2015). Depression improvement and parenting in low-income mothers in home visiting. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, 18(3), 555–563. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-014-0479-7</u>.
- Bilukha, O., Hahn, R. A., Crosby, A., Fullilove, M. T., Liberman, A., Moscicki, E., Synder, S., Tuma, F., Corso, P., Schofield, A., & Briss, P. A. (2005). The effectiveness of early childhood home visitation in preventing violence: A systematic review. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 28(2S1), 11–39.
- Bitsko, R. H., Holbrook, J. R., Robinson, L. R., Kaminski, J. W., Ghandour, R., Smith, C., & Peacock, G. (2016). Health care, family, and community factors associated with mental, behavioral, and developmental disorders in early childhood United States, 2011–2012. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 65(9), 221–226. <u>https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6509a1</u>.
- Boulet, J., & Boss, M. W. (1991). Reliability and validity of the Brief Symptom Inventory. *Psychological Assessment: A Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 3, 433–437. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.3.3.433
- Briggs-Gowan, M. J., Carter, A. S., Irwin, J. R., Wachtel, K., & Cicchetti, D. V. (2004). The Brief Infant-Toddler Social and Emotional Assessment: screening for social-emotional problems and delays in competence. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 29(2), 143–155.
- Bronfenbrenner, U., & Morris, P. A. (1998). The bioecological model of human development. In W. Damon & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), *Handbook of Child Psychology: Vol. 1: Theoretical Models of Human Development* (5th ed., pp. 793–828). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Brown, J., Kranzler, H. R., & Del Boca, F. K. (1992). Self-reports by alcohol and drug abuse inpatients: factors affecting reliability and validity. *British Journal of Addiction*, 87(7), 1013–1024. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.1992.tb03118.x</u>.
- Brown, S. M., Orsi, R., Chen, P. C. B., Everson, C. L., & Fluke, J. (2022). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on child protection system referrals and responses in Colorado, USA. *Child Maltreatment*, 27(1), 3–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/10775595211012476</u>.
- Caldera, D., Burrell, L., Rodriguez, K., Crowne, S. S., Rohde, C., & Duggan, A. (2007). Impact of a statewide home visiting program on parenting and on child health and development. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 31(8), 829–852.
- Casillas, K. L., Fauchier, A., Derkash, B. T., & Garrido, E. F. (2016). Implementation of evidence-based home visiting programs aimed at reducing child maltreatment: A meta-analytic review. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 53, 64–80.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). *Risk and protective factors*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/</u><u>violenceprevention/childabuseandneglect/riskprotectivefactors.html</u>.

- Chazan-Cohen, R., Raikes, H. H., & Vogel, C. (2013). V. Program subgroups: Patterns of impacts for homebased, center-based, and mixed-approach programs. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 78(1), 93–109.
- Childs, A. W., Bacon, S. M., Klingensmith, K., Li, L., Unger, A., Wing, A. M., & Fortunati, F. (2021). Showing up is half the battle: The impact of telehealth on psychiatric appointment attendance for hospital-based intensive outpatient services during COVID-19. *Telemedicine and e-Health*, 27(8), 835–842. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2021.0028</u>.
- Cicchetti, D., Rogosch, F. A., & Toth, S. L. (2000). The efficacy of toddler-parent psychotherapy for fostering cognitive development in offspring of depressed mothers. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 28(2), 135–148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005118713814</u>.

- Combs-Orme, T., Reis, J., & Ward, L. D. (1985). Effectiveness of home visits by public health nurses in maternal and child health: An empirical review. *Public Health Reports*, 100(5), 490–499.
- Conger, R. D., & Conger, K. J. (2002). Resilience in Midwestern families: Selected findings from the first decade of a prospective, longitudinal study. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 64(2), 361–373. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2002.00361.x</u>.
- Cooke, J. E., Racine, N., Plamondon, A., Tough, S., & Madigan, S. (2019). Maternal adverse childhood experiences, attachment style, and mental health: Pathways of transmission to child behavior problems. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 93, 27–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.04.011</u>.
- DeCarlo Santiago, C., Wadsworth, M. E., & Stump, J. (2011). Socioeconomic status, neighborhood disadvantage, and poverty-related stress: Prospective effects on psychological syndromes among diverse low-income families. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 32(2), 218–230. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2009.10.008</u>.
- Derogatis, L. R. (1993). BSI brief symptom inventory: Administration, scoring, and procedures manual (4th ed.). *National Computer Systems*.
- Doyle, J. J., Jr., & Aizer, A. (2018). Economics of child protection: Maltreatment, foster care, and intimate partner violence. *Annual Review of Economics*, 10, 87–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-economics-080217-053237</u>.
- Duggan, A., Berlin, L. J., Cassidy, J., Burrell, L., & Tandon, S. D. (2009). Examining maternal depression and attachment insecurity as moderators of the impacts of home visiting for at-risk mothers and infants. *Journal of Consult Clinical Psychology*, 77(4), 788–799.
- Duggan, A., Fuddy, L., Burrell, L., Higman, S. M., McFarlane, E., Windham, A., & Sia, C. (2004). Randomized trial of a statewide home visiting program to prevent child abuse: impact in reducing parental risk factors. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 28(6), 623–643.
- Eaton, W. W., Smith, C., Ybarra, M., Muntaner, C., & Tien, A. (2004). Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale: Review and Revision (CESD and CESD-R). In *The use of psychological testing for treatment planning and outcomes assessment: Instruments for adults, Volume 3* (3rd ed., pp. 363–377). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Family First Prevention Services Act, 115th Congress (2017–2018). <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/253</u>.
- Field, T., Pickens, J., Prodromidis, M., Malphurs, J., Fox, N., Bendell, D., Yando, R., Schanberg, S., & Kuhn, C. (2000). Targeting adolescent mothers with depressive symptoms for early intervention. *Journal of Adolescence*, 35(138), 381–414.
- Fong, V. C., & Iarocci, G. (2020). Child and family outcomes following pandemics: A systematic review and recommendations on COVID-19 policies. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 45(10), 1124–1143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsaa092</u>.
- Gennetian, L. A., Wolf, S., Hill, H. D., & Morris, P. A. (2015). Intrayear household income dynamics and adolescent school behavior. *Demography*, 52(2), 455–483. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-015-0370-9</u>.
- Gershoff, E. T., Aber, J. L., Raver, C. C., & Lennon, M. C. (2007). Income is not enough: Incorporating material hardship into models of income associations with parenting and child development. *Child Development*, 78(1), 70–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.00986.x</u>.
- Gomila, R. (2021). Logistic or linear? Estimating causal effects of experimental treatments on binary outcomes using regression analysis. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 150, 700–709. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000920</u>.

- Griffith, A. K. (2022). Parental burnout and child maltreatment during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Family Violence*, 37(5), 725–731. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-020-00172-2</u>.
- Harding, K., Galano, J., Martin, J., Huntington, L., & Schellenbach, C. J. (2007). Healthy Families America effectiveness: A comprehensive review of outcomes. *Journal of Prevention and Intervention in the Community*, 34(1), 149–179.
- Heinicke, C. M., Fineman, N. R., Ponce, V. A., & Guthrie, D. (2001). Relation-based intervention with at-risk mothers: Outcome in the second year of life. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 22(4), 431–462. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.1010</u>.
- Herrenkohl, T. I., Scott, D., Higgins, D. J., Klika, J. B., & Lonne, B. (2021). How COVID-19 is placing vulnerable children at risk and why we need a different approach to child welfare. *Child Maltreatment*, 26(1), 9–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559520963916</u>.
- Jayakody, R., Danziger, S., & Pollack, H. (2000). Welfare reform, substance use, and mental health. *Journal* of Health Politics, Policy and Law, 25(4), 623–652. <u>https://doi.org/10.1215/03616878-25-4-623</u>.
- Karabekiroglu, K., Briggs-Gowan, M. J., Carter, A. S., Rodopman-Arman, A., & Akbas, S. (2010). The clinical validity and reliability of the Brief Infant–Toddler Social and Emotional Assessment (BITSEA). *Infant Behavior and Development*, 33(4), 503–509.
- Khlaif, Z. N., Salha, S., & Kouraichi, B. (2021). Emergency remote learning during COVID-19 crisis: Students' engagement. *Education and Information Technologies*, 26(6), 7033–7055. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-021-10566-4</u>.
- Kitzman, H., Olds, D. L., Henderson, C. R., Jr., Hanks, C., Cole, R., Tatelbaum, R., McConnochie, K. M., Sidora, K., Luckey, D. W., & Shaver, D. (1997). Effect of prenatal and infancy home visitation by nurses on pregnancy outcomes, childhood injuries, and repeated childbearing. *JAMA*, 278(8), 644–652.
- Korfmacher, J., Molloy, P., & Frese, M. (2021a). "But it's not the same": What happens in virtual home visits? *Erikson Institute and the Home Visiting Applied Research Collaborative*. <u>https://www.hvresearch.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/Research-Brief-2-HV_COVID_Obs-Int-FIN.pdf</u>.
- Korfmacher, J., Molloy, P., & Frese, M. (2021b). Virtually the Same? *Erikson Institute*. <u>https://www.erikson.edu/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/Research-Brief-1-HV-COVID-Survey.pdf</u>.
- Kuppens, S., Moore, S. C., Gross, V., Lowthian, E., & Siddaway, A. P. (2019). The enduring effects of parental alcohol, tobacco, and drug use on child well-being: A multilevel meta-analysis. *Development and Psychopathology*, 2(32), 765–778. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0954579419000749</u>.
- Kyriacou, D. N. (2016). The enduring evolution of the P value. *JAMA*, 315(11), 1113–1115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.2152</u>.
- Lawson, M., Piel, M. H., & Simon, M. (2020). Child maltreatment during the COVID-19 pandemic: Consequences of parental job loss on psychological and physical abuse towards children. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 110, 104709. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104709</u>.
- LeCroy, C. W., & Krysik, J. (2011). Randomized trial of the healthy families Arizona home visiting program. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 33(10), 1761–1766.
- Lieberman, A. F., Ghosh Ippen, C., & Van Horn, P. (2006). Child-parent psychotherapy: 6-month follow-up of a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 45(8), 913–918. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.chi.0000222784.03735.92</u>.
- Lieberman, A. F., Van Horn, P., & Ippen, C. G. (2005). Toward evidence-based treatment: Child-parent psychotherapy with preschoolers exposed to marital violence. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 44(12), 1241–1248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.chi.0000181047.59702.58</u>.

- Lowell, D. I., Carter, A. S., Godoy, L., Paulicin, B., & Briggs-Gowan, M. J. (2011). A randomized controlled trial of Child FIRST: A comprehensive home-based intervention translating research into early childhood practice. *Child Development*, 82(1), 193–208.
- Luckey, D. W., Olds L. D., Zhang W., Henderson, C., Knudtson M., Eckenrode, J., Kitzman, H., Cole, R., & Pettitt, L. (2008). Revised analysis of 15-year outcomes in the Elmira trial of the Nurse-Family Partnership. *Prevention Research Center for Family and Child Health*.
- Luthar, S. S., & Cicchetti, D. (2000). The construct of resilience: Implications for interventions and social policies. Development and Psychopathology, 4(12), 857–885. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0954579400004156</u>.
- Ma, M., Orsi, R., & Brooks-Russell, A. (2022). Is household unemployment associated with increased verbal and physical child abuse during the COVID pandemic? *Child Maltreatment*, 28(1), 7–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/10775595221088217</u>.
- McKelvey, L. M., Fitzgerald, S., Conners Edge, N. A., & Whiteside-Mansell, L. (2018). Keeping our eyes on the prize: Focusing on parenting supports depressed parents' involvement in home visiting services. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 22(Suppl 1), 33–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-018-2533-y</u>.

Merrell, K. W. (2003). Preschool and kindergarten behavior scales (2nd ed.). Pro-Ed.

- Michalopoulos, C., Crowne, S. S., Portilla, X. A., Lee, H., Filene, J. H., Duggan, A., & Knox, V. (2019a). A summary of results from the MIHOPE and MIHOPE-Strong Start studies of evidence-based home visiting. OPRE Report 2019-09. Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Michalopoulos, C., Faucetta, K., Hill, C. J., Portilla, X. A., Burrell, L., Lee, H., Duggan, A., & Knox, V. (2019b). Impacts on family outcomes of evidence-based early childhood home visiting: Results from the mother and infant home visiting program evaluation. OPRE Report 2019-07. Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Michalopoulos, C., Faucetta, K., Warren, A., & Mitchell, R. (2017). *Evidence on the long-term effects of home visiting programs: Laying the groundwork for long-term follow-up in the Mother and Infant Home Visiting Program Evaluation (MIHOPE). OPRE Report 2017-73.* Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Minkovitz, C. S., O'Neill, K. M. G., & Duggan, A. K. (2016). Home visiting: A service strategy to reduce poverty and mitigate its consequences. *Academic Pediatrics*, 16(3), S105–S111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2016.01.005</u>.
- Mogil, C., Hajal, N., Aralis, H., Paley, B., Milburn, N. G., Barrera, W., Kiff, C., Beardslee, W., & Lester, P. (2022). A trauma-informed, family-centered, virtual home visiting program for young children: One-year outcomes. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 53(5), 964–979. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-021-01181-y</u>.
- Mollborn, S., Lawrence, E., & Root, E. D. (2018). Residential mobility across early childhood and children's kindergarten readiness. *Demography*, 55(2), 485–510. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-018-0652-0</u>.
- Morris, P. A., & Gennetian, L. A. (2003). Identifying the effects of income on children's development using experimental data. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 65(3), 716–729. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2003.00716.x</u>.
- Murphy, D. A., Hser, Y. I., Huang, D., Brecht, M. L., & Herbeck, D. M. (2010). Self-report of longitudinal substance use: A comparison of the UCLA natural history interview and the Addiction Severity Index. *Journal of Drug Issues*, 40(2), 495–516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/002204261004000210</u>.

- National Institute on Drug Abuse (2022). COVID-19 & substance use. <u>https://nida.nih.gov/research-topics/</u> comorbidity/covid-19-substance-use.
- Nievar, M. A., Van Egeren, L. A., & Pollard, S. (2010). A meta-analysis of home visiting programs: Moderators of improvements in maternal behavior. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 31(5), 499–520. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.20269</u>.
- O'Neill, K., Korfmacher, J., Zagaja, C., & Duggan, A. (2020). COVID-19's early impact on home visiting. First Report from a National HARC-Beat Survey of Local Home Visiting Programs.
- Olds, D. L., Henderson, C. R., Jr., Kitzman, H. J., Eckenrode, J. J., Cole, R. E., & Tatelbaum, R. C. (1999). Prenatal and infancy home visitation by nurses: Recent findings. *Future of Children*, 9(1), 44–65.
- Olds, D. L., Kitzman, H. J., Cole, R. E., Hanks, C. A., Arcoleo, K. J., Anson, E. A., Luckey, D. W., Knudtson, M. D., Henderson, C. R., Jr., & Bondy, J. (2010). Enduring effects of prenatal and infancy home visiting by nurses on maternal life course and government spending: Follow-up of a randomized trial among children at age 12 years. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, 164(5), 419–424.
- Olds, D. L., Robinson, J., O'Brien, R., Luckey, D. W., Pettitt, L. M., Henderson, C. R., Jr., Ng, R. K., Sheff, K. L., Korfmacher, J., & Hiatt, S. (2002). Home visiting by paraprofessionals and by nurses: A randomized, controlled trial. *Pediatrics*, 110(3), 486–496.
- Olds, D. L., Robinson, J., Pettitt, L., Luckey, D. W., Holmberg, J., Ng, R. K., Isacks, K., Sheff, K., & Henderson, C. R., Jr. (2004). Effects of home visits by paraprofessionals and by nurses: Age 4 follow-up results of a randomized trial. *Pediatrics*, 114(6), 1560–1568. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2004-0961</u>.
- Ondersma, S. J. (2002). Predictors of neglect within low-SES families: The importance of substance abuse. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 72(3), 383–391. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0002-9432.72.3.383</u>.
- Palinkas, L. A., De Leon, J., Salinas, E., Chu, S., Hunter, K., Marshall, T. M., Tadehara, E., Strnad, C. M., Purtle, J., Horwitz, S. M., McKay, M. M., & Hoagwood, K. E. (2021). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on child and adolescent mental health policy and practice implementation. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(18), 9622. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/18/18/9622</u>.
- Patrick, S. W., Henkhaus, L. E., Zickafoose, J. S., Lovell, K., Halvorson, A., Loch, S., Letterie, M., & Davis, M. M. (2020). Well-being of parents and children during the COVID-19 pandemic: A national survey. *Pediatrics*, 146(4), e2020016824.
- Pincus, H. A., Pechura, C. M., Elinson, L., & Pettit, A. R. (2001). Depression in primary care: linking clinical and systems strategies. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 23(6), 311–318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0163-8343(01)00165-7</u>.
- Rybińska, A., Best, D. L., Goodman, W. B., Bai, Y., & Dodge, K. A. (2022). Transitioning to virtual interaction during the COVID-19 pandemic: Impact on the Family Connects postpartum home visiting program activity. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 43(1), 159–172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.21953</u>.
- Salari, N., Hosseinian-Far, A., Jalali, R., Vaisi-Raygani, A., Rasoulpoor, S., Mohammadi, M., Rasoulpoor, S., & Khaledi-Paveh, B. (2020). Prevalence of stress, anxiety, depression among the general population during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Globalization and Health*, 16(1), 57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-020-00589-w</u>.
- Sandstrom, H. (2019). Early childhood home visiting programs and health. *Health Affairs*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hpb20190321.382895</u>.
- Self-Brown, S., Reuben, K., Perry, E. W., Bullinger, L. R., Osborne, M. C., Bielecki, J., & Whitaker, D. (2022). The impact of COVID-19 on the delivery of an evidence-based child maltreatment prevention program: Understanding the perspectives of SafeCare® providers. *Journal of Family Violence*, 37(5), 825–835. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-020-00217-6</u>.

- Sparling, J., & Meunier, K. (2019). Abecedarian: An early childhood education approach that has a rich history and vibrant present. *International Journal of Early Childhood*, 51, 207-216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13158-019-00247-2</u>.
- Sweet, M. A., & Appelbaum, M. I. (2004). Is home visiting an effective strategy? A meta-analytic review of home visiting programs for families with young children. *Child Development*, 75(5), 14, 35–56.
- Tandon, D., Mackrain, M., Beeber, L., Topping-Tailby, N., Raska, M., & Arbour, M. (2020). Addressing maternal depression in home visiting: Findings from the home visiting collaborative improvement and innovation network. *PLoS ONE*, 15(4), e0230211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0230211</u>.
- Terza, J. V., & Vechnak, P. B. (2007). The effect of substance abuse on employment status. Department of Economics, The Pennsylvania State University.
- Toth, S. L., Rogosch, F. A., Manly, J. T., & Cicchetti, D. (2006). The efficacy of toddler-parent psychotherapy to reorganize attachment in the young offspring of mothers with major depressive disorder: A randomized preventive trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 74(6), 1006–1016. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.74.6.1006</u>.
- Totten, A. M., Womack, D. M., Eden, K. B., McDonagh, M. S., Griffin, J. C., Grusing, S., & Hersh, W. R. (2016). AHRQ comparative effectiveness technical briefs. In *Telehealth: Mapping the Evidence for Patient Outcomes from Systematic Reviews*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US).
- Van Dam, N., & Earleywine, M. (2011). Validation of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale-Revised (CESD-R): Pragmatic depression assessment in the general population. *Psychiatry Research*, 186(1), 128–132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2010.08.018</u>.
- Volkow, N. D. (2001). Drug abuse and mental illness: Progress in understanding comorbidity. American Journal of Psychiatry, 158(8), 1181–1183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.158.8.1181</u>.
- Whiteside-Mansell, L., Ayoub, C., McKelvey, L., Faldowski, R. A., Hart, A., & Shears, J. (2007). Parenting stress of low-income parents of toddlers and preschoolers: Psychometric properties of a short form of the Parenting Stress Index. *Parenting: Science and Practice*, 7(1), 26–56.
- Wolf, J. P., Freisthler, B., & Chadwick, C. (2021). Stress, alcohol use, and punitive parenting during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 117, 105090. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2021.105090</u>.
- Ziol-Guest, K. M., & McKenna, C. C. (2014). Early childhood housing instability and school readiness. *Child Development*, 85(1), 103–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12105</u>.
- Zuvekas, S. H., & Hill, S. C. (2000). Income and employment among homeless people: the role of mental health, health and substance abuse. *The Journal of Mental Health Policy and Economics*, 3(3), 153–163. https://doi.org/10.1002/mhp.94.

ABOUT MDRC

MDRC, A NONPROFIT, NONPARTISAN SOCIAL AND EDUCA-

TION POLICY RESEARCH ORGANIZATION, IS COMMITTED TO finding solutions to some of the most difficult problems facing the nation. We aim to reduce poverty and bolster economic mobility; improve early child development, public education, and pathways from high school to college completion and careers; and reduce inequities in the criminal justice system. Our partners include public agencies and school systems, nonprofit and community-based organizations, private philanthropies, and others who are creating opportunity for individuals, families, and communities.

Founded in 1974, MDRC builds and applies evidence about changes in policy and practice that can improve the well-being of people who are economically disadvantaged. In service of this goal, we work alongside our programmatic partners and the people they serve to identify and design more effective and equitable approaches. We work with them to strengthen the impact of those approaches. And we work with them to evaluate policies or practices using the highest research standards. Our staff members have an unusual combination of research and organizational experience, with expertise in the latest qualitative and quantitative research methods, data science, behavioral science, culturally responsive practices, and collaborative design and program improvement processes. To disseminate what we learn, we actively engage with policymakers, practitioners, public and private funders, and others to apply the best evidence available to the decisions they are making.

MDRC works in almost every state and all the nation's largest cities, with offices in New York City; Oakland, California; Washington, DC; and Los Angeles.